
Brooklyn Board of Education
Meeting Agenda
Community Room

April 27, 2024
6:30 PM*

Mission: The Brooklyn Schools will foster a drive for learning within each student to reach his/her greatest potential. To
achieve this mission, the school will continually improve its educational programs and services to meet this community's
expectations for a quality education for all.

To support public participation the documents will be posted on the  Town of Brooklyn Website as well as the  Brooklyn
Public Schools Website. You are encouraged to send questions or comments to  buell@brooklynschools.org prior to the
meeting.

1. Attendance, Establishment of a Quorum, Call to Order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Public Comment

4. Approval of Minutes*
a. March 27, 2024

5. Correspondence and Communication
a. Recognition Drama Students
b. Recognition CAPSS Award Recipients
c. Curriculum Walk by Administration
d. Resignations

6. Administrative Reports
a. FY23 Financial Reports
b. Enrollment Report
c. Brooklyn’s Best

7. Board of Education Committee Reports

8. Board Representatives to other Committees

9. Old Business

10. New Business
a. Ratification of 1303 Contract

11. Public Comment

12. Adjournment

*Action Item

https://www.brooklynct.org/
http://www.brooklynschools.org/
http://www.brooklynschools.org/
mailto:buell@brooklynschools.org


The Board of Education
Town of Brooklyn
119 Gorman Road

Brooklyn, CT 06234

Mae Lyons, Board Chair Melissa Perkins-Banas, Vice-Chair
Justin Phaiah, Secretary Kayla Burgess
Ailla Wasstrom-Evans Deb Metzger

Mission: The Brooklyn Schools will foster a drive for learning within each student to reach his/her
greatest potential. To achieve this mission, the school will continually improve its educational programs

and services to meet this community's expectations for a quality education for all.

The Brooklyn Board of Education held a special meeting in the Central Office Community
Room and virtually on March 27, 2024 via Google Meet. In attendance were Mrs. Lyons, Dr.
Perkins-Banas, Mr. Phaiah, Mrs. Burgess, Mrs. Wasstrom-Evans, and Mrs. Metzger. Mrs. Buell,
Superintendent, and Mrs. Raynor were also present.

To support public participation the documents will be posted on the  Town of Brooklyn Website
as well as the  Brooklyn Public Schools Website.You are encouraged to send questions or
comments to  buell@brooklynschools.org prior to the meeting.

1. Attendance, Establishment of a Quorum, Call to Order

Mrs. Lyons stated that a Quorum has been established. Board members that were present:
Melissa Perkins-Banas, Justin Phaiah, Kayla Burgess, Ailla Wasstrom-Evans, Deb
Metzger, and Mae Lyons.

Mrs. Lyons called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Public Comment

None

4. Approval of Minutes

a. February 28, 2024 Regular Meeting Minutes

Dr. Perkins-Banas made a motion to approve the regular meeting minutes for
February 28, 2024.
(Perkins-Banas/Burgess)
No Discussion

mailto:buell@brooklynschools.org


Vote Count: 6, 0
Unanimous vote to approve

Mrs. Lyons stated that she would like to add an agenda item 5a. Introduction of the new
Brooklyn Elementary School’s Principal.

Dr. Perkins-Banas made a motion to add agenda item 5a.for the introduction of the new
Brooklyn Elementary School’s Principal.
(Perkins-Banas/Phaiah)
No Discussion
Vote Count: 6, 0
Unanimous vote to approve

5. Correspondence and Communication

a. Introduction of New Brooklyn Elementary School’s Principal

Mrs. Buell introduced Mrs. Melissa Violette to the Board as the new Brooklyn
Elementary School Principal starting July 1, 2024. Melissa was one of many
strong applicants in the pool for the position of principal. She was unanimously
selected by a committee of ten people as their top candidate. Mrs. Violette earned
her Bachelor of Science in Elementary Education and Special Education from
Southern Connecticut State University. She later earned a Master of Science in
Reading, before earning her Sixth Year Diploma in the Administrator Preparation
Program from the University of Connecticut.

Mrs. Violette has been a teacher since 2012 and worked at North Windham
School as a kindergarten and first grade teacher. She then came to Brooklyn
Public Schools in 2018 working as a kindergarten teacher and served as an
Instructional Coach at Brooklyn Elementary School for the last three years. She is
a highly regarded teacher, coach, and instructional leader and pleased to have her
continue the great work of the school as the next Brooklyn Elementary School
Principal.

Mrs. Buell and the Brooklyn Board of Education congratulated Melissa!

b. Thank you letter - Thomas Osborn

Mrs. Buell stated she sent a thank you letter to Thomas Osborn for his generous
donation of a Yamaha P125 Piano with the stand, bench and the Galaxy Audio
TX-8 speaker to the Brooklyn Elementary School Music Program.

c. Thank you letter - Beagary Charitable Trust

Mrs. Buell stated that she sent a letter to the Patricia Morgan, Beagary Charitable
Trust, for their continued support of the Brooklyn Public Schools and for the



monetary donation in the amount of $7,107.00. This donation will purchase and
install a Kiln for the Brooklyn Middle School Art Department.

d. Letter from Artsonia 10K Club

Mrs. Buell stated she received a letter from Jim Meyers, CEO of Artsonia,
commending the Brooklyn School’s art parogram’s commitment to art education
and efforts to showcase student art. Mr Meyers congratulated Brooklyn School’s
art teachers and students, who have collectively contributed to an online gallery
surpassing 10,000 works of art.

e. Woodstock Academy - Valedictorian Kayleigh Murray

Mrs. Buell stated she received a letter from Woodstock Academy’s Head of
School, Christopher Sandford, congratulating Kayleigh Murray for obtaining the
honor of Valedictorian of The Woodstock Academy Class of 2024. Mrs. Buell and
the Board congratulated Kayleigh.

Mrs. Buell stated that it is Board of Education appreciation month and she and
Mrs. Raynor handed out gifts to the Brooklyn Board of Education that were made
by students

6. Administrative Reports

a. FY23 Financial Reports

Mrs. DiBenedetto discussed the expenditure report. She stated that there are no
changes from last month, expenditures are remaining on track and is watching the
bottom line closely.

b. Enrollment Reports

Mrs. Buell discussed the enrollment report. The Brooklyn Elementary School
increased by 1. The Brooklyn Middle School increased by 1 and high school
students decreased by 2. Total student enrollment went from 1,251 and remains at
1,251.

c. Brooklyn’s Best

Brooklyn Elementary School:
● Our pre-k students had a “Thankful Thursday '' day on February 29th. On

this day, students were taught manners, served each other food and dressed
the part! Thank you to our pre-k staff for putting on such a wonderful day!

● Our third grade students did an amazing job working on their persuasive
writing! They convinced Baker’s Dozen to create 2 new donuts! Thank
you to Baker’s Dozen for partnering with us and creating a wonderful



opportunity for our children! This collaboration provides students with a
real-world application for their writing skills, making learning more
engaging and relevant.

● Our staff thoroughly enjoyed the Leap Day frog Frenzy activity that Mrs.
Hardacker put together. This engaging event not only allowed the staff
some fun but also helped support a positive climate within the school.
Thank you for the fun!

● Our CareBears program is up and running. This is all due to the grant
received to bring the Primary Project to BES. The Primary Project is an
evidence-based, early intervention program designed to support the social
and emotional development of young children.

Brooklyn Middle School:
● Good Cookie March 2024:

○ 5th - Elliana Faucher, Landon Scheck
○ 6th - Landon Bessette, Molly Gauthier
○ 7th - Mason Lee, Carrie Liu
○ 8th - Sam Cote, Ethan MacNeil

● We have an upcoming Internet Safety Presentation for Parents on March
28 at 5:15pm.

● We also have our Pasta Fundraiser supported by the Lions Club of
Danielson on March 28th for our Community Fitness Course.

● Spring sports are off to a great start!
● We had an amazing turnout of families for our Related Arts Night.Thank

you to the related arts team for planning such a great event!
● We appreciate all of the parent support through conversations at

conferences.
● Thank you to the PTO for providing an amazing meal the night of

conferences!
● Q3 after school activities were a huge success with over 70 sign ups.
● We look forward to the performance of Lion King, Jr on April 5 and 6.

7. Board of Education Committee Reports

None to Report

8. Board Representatives to Other Committees

None to Report

9. Old Business

a. Discussion of FY25 Budget



Mrs. Buell asked the Brooklyn Board of Education if they would like to take
action on the 2024-2025 school budget this evening as discussed in the Budget
Workshop.

The Superintendent’s Proposed Estimate of Expenditures for the 2024-2025
school year is $22,656,771 or 4.72% increase over the 2023-2024 school year.

Dr. Perkins-Banas made a motion to pass the Superintendent’s Proposed Estimate
of Expenditures FY25 Budget.
(Perkins-Banas/Phaiah)
No Discussion
Vote Count: 6, 0
Unanimous vote to approve

Mrs. Buell stated that the next step will be presenting to the Board of Finance in
April.

b. Capital FY25 Budget

Mrs Buell asked the Brooklyn Board of Education if they would like to take
action on the Capital Projects for the 2024-2025 school year as discussed during
the Budget Workshop with the estimate of costs being $209,741.00.

Dr. Perkins-Banas made a motion to pass the Capital FY25 Budget (as
presented/as modified) during the Budget Workshop.
(Perkins-Banas/Burgess)
No Discussion
Vote Count: 6, 0
Unanimous vote to approve

Mrs. Buell stated that the Capital Committee is meeting tomorrow night,
Thursday, March 28, 2024, and these items will be presented to the committee.

10. New Business

a. Calendar Approvals

Mrs. Buell discussed the following calendar dates and would like the Board to
approve these dates:

● Last Day of School - June 14, 2024
● 4th Grade Promotion - June 14, 2024
● 8th Grade Promotion - June 13, 2024

The Brooklyn Board of Education stated that there was no need for the Board to
approve the above dates.



11. Public Comment

None

12. Adjournment

Dr. Perkins-Banas made a motion to adjourn at 7:00 p.m.
(Phaiah/Perkins-Banas)
No Discussion
Vote Count: 6, 0
Unanimous vote to approve

Respectfully Submitted,

Rebecc� S. DiBenede��

Rebecca S. DiBenedetto

____________________________________ _______________
Justin Phaiah, Board of Education Secretary Date



























































Curriculum Updates 
 Brooklyn Public 
Schools 

April 2024



BES Pacing Guide - Year At A Glance



BMS Pacing Guide



Curriculum Units
● Unit Overview
● Essential Questions
● Big Ideas/Concepts
● Skills
● Priority and Supporting 

Standards
● Materials/Resources
● Vocabulary
● Assessment Tools
● Community/Parent 

Involvement 



BES Pacing Guide - Unit Reflection (Grade 4)



Next Steps

BES

★ Additional time to work on/modify curriculum
★ Implement small group work into curriculum 

documents 
★ Identify lessons for appropriate math 

intervention
★ Incorporate ELA and math concepts into the 

Unified Arts curriculum
★ Analyze data to determine next steps for 

instruction 

 

BMS

★ Continue to collaborate and improve instructional 
strategies

★ Need additional time to work on/modify 
curriculum

★ Balancing instruction of reading/writing standards 
from year to year

★ Updating and expanding our library of resources 
both physical and digital for research and 
assessment

★ Continue to develop assessments
★ Update and modify as educational trends change 

and develop



Points Of Pride

BES

★ Updated guaranteed classroom experiences   
★ Implementation of UFLI & Heggerty 
★ Implementation of iReady Classroom 

Mathematics Program (K-4)
★ mCLASS data to prioritize small groups and 

interventions
★ Weekly grade-level meetings to review/reflect 

on current practices and pacing guide 

BMS

★ Horizontal and vertical curriculum design for 
each grade level

★ Identification of priority standards across grade 
levels and content areas

★ Development of team cohesiveness through the 
curriculum process

★ The document has been updated for the new 
programs being used and adjusted

★ Will serve as a helpful tool to support new 
teachers in district







 **Enrollment Report 2023-2024

4/17/2024

Brooklyn Public Schools Enrollment 2023-2024 04/17/2024
BES Grade
Level, Sections Pre-K K First Second Third Fourth Total

512

BMS Grade
Level, Sections Fifth Sixth Seventh Eighth Total

373

Ninth Tenth Eleventh Twelfth Total

Total by Grade 360

OUT OF DISTRICT STUDENTS (not counted in totals above)

Homeschooled
20-21

PK AM Class 1 17 15 19 18 18 19 106
PK PM Class 1 12 15 19 16 17 21 100
PK AM Class 2 16 16 18 18 19 21 108
PK PM Class 2 14 16 18 17 16 21 102
PK AM Class 3 13 15 0 16 18 21 83
PK PM Class 3 13 13

Total in person 85 77 74 85 88 103
Homeschooled 2 2 3 4 3 3 17

22 17 21 16 76
20 18 22 21 81
20 19 21 21 81
19 18 21 20 78
19 19 0 19 57

Total in person 100 91 85 97 - -
Homeschooled 2 6 6 1 15

47 64 39 53 203

14 23 12 23 72

3 4 0 3 10

0 0 0 1 1

0 1 0 0 1

0 0 1 0 1

3 1 2 2 8

17 9 13 15 54

2 4 0 3 9
1 0 0 0 1

87 106 67 100

11

1258 1251 1254 1256 1258 1251 1251

32 35 47 32 50 61 61

3

2019-20 1342 1343 1344 1345 1348 1342 COVID last day 3/13/2020
2020-2021

1260 1242 1243 1246 1245 1227 1230 1244 1251

2019-20 1342 1342
2020-2021* 1260 1251

High School Stud
Woodstock
Academy
Killingly High
School
Killingly Ag
Science
Plainfield High
School
Parish Hill High
School
Putnam High
School

Norwich Free
Academy
Ellis Technical
High School
Quinebaug
Middle College

EO Smith

Griswold High
School 0

Act
**LEARN Magnet
School

0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL BROOKLYN STUDENT ENROLLMENT PK-21 1256
Total Enrollment Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May
2017-18 1314 1314 1311 1304 1310 1312 1311 1318 1319
2018-19 1332 1336 1327 1326 1325 1325 1320 1333 1338

2021-22 1258.5 1270.5 1275.5 1282.5 1281.5 1280.5 1282.5 1279.5 1281.5
2022-2023 1305 1298 1294 1291 1290 1292 1302 1303 1300

1256

53 53
19 22
32 20 22 22 24 27 27 27 30

31 31 31 31 31 31 32

Sept June
2017-18 1314 1320
2018-19 1332 1339

2021-22 1274 1283.5
2022-2023 1305 1300

1258

(COVID, In/Opt
Out)

2023-2024

21-22
22-23

3023-24

2023-2024



Brooklyn Elementary School

● The District Literacy Leadership team has completed the review of the Wit and Wisdom. The team is
involved in an intense review process with the State Department of Education and Hill for Literacy.

● Pre-K students celebrated their letters with a parade/scavenger hunt around the building.
● Azul String Quartet held an assembly for grades 3 & 4 students at BES on March 26th.
● Grades 3 & 4 took a field trip to Woodstock to see the Azul String Quartet perform, and they

represented themselves very well.
● Grade 4 attended Lion King performance at BMS on 4/8, and were a very respectful, appreciative

audience

Brooklyn Middle School

Good Cookie Award

5th Christa Lavimoniere-Green Lilli Bartrum-Follansbee

6th Lillian Lamson Aiden Armstrong

7th Lexie Young Naomi Nunez

8th Amani Ortiz Aedan Khamphoukeo

● Congratulations to Mrs. Dehls and the Cast and Crew of Lion King, Jr. The performance was well done
with great attendance.

● We were excited to have a whole school performance of Lion King, Jr. which included grade 4 students.
● We held an Internet Safety Presentation by Trooper White that provided current information to parents.
● We also had 2 assemblies with Trooper White for him to provide important information to students in

grades 4-6 and 7-8 about staying safe on social media and the internet.
● We had a great start to our Kindness Campaign and are working to celebrate kindness throughout the

school community.
● Ron Baribeau and company has completed the installation of another station at the middle school. He

has been extremely generous with his time, talent and materials and we are very grateful.


